UNI TED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
FIFTH O RCU T

No. 92-4010
(Summary Cal endar)

MARI LYN PATTON,
Pl ai ntiff-Appellant,
VERSUS
JI MW ALFORD, ET AL.,
Def endant s- Appel | ees.

Appeal fromthe United States District Court
For the Eastern District of Texas
(6:90 CV 207)

(Decenber 1, 1992)
Bef ore GARWOOD, JONES, and EMLIO M GARZA, G rcuit Judges.
PER CURI AM *

Plaintiff, Marilyn Patton, a former prison guard at the Texas
Departnent of Crimnal Justice ("TDCJ"), filed an action pro se and
in forma pauperis against several TDCJ officials. Patton clained
that the defendants discrimnated agai nst her on the basis of sex,

term nated her w thout due process, and violated her civil rights

Local Rule 47.5.1 provides: "The publication of opinions that have
no precedential value and nerely decide particular cases on the basis of well-
settled principles of |aw inposes needl ess expense on the public and burdens on
the | egal profession.” Pursuant to that Rule, the Court has determ ned that this
opi ni on shoul d not be published.



under federal and state law by having her falsely arrested and
mal i ci ously prosecuted. The district court dism ssed Patton's suit
for failure to state a clai mupon which relief could be granted.
Patton appeals, and finding no error, we affirm!?
I

Patton, a prison guard at the Coffield Unit of TDCJ, was
brought up on disciplinary charges. A disciplinary hearing was
hel d, at whi ch Warden Al ford announced hi s decision to place Patton
on probation and to change her working hours to another shift. The
shi ft change woul d have required Patton to be under the supervision
of a man agai nst whom she had a pending |awsuit. Patton cl ains
that everyone at at TDCJ knew about the lawsuit and knew that it
woul d be i npossible for her to work for her new supervisor. Patton
never again reported to work after receiving Warden Alford's
decision, but did file a grievance over the matter.

An unidentified person later reported to Warden Alford that
Patton was at her home suffering a drug overdose.? Warden Alford
called the sheriff's office and reported the incident. War den

Al ford then drove to Patton's hone and waited in his car as the

1 Patton also requests that this Court grant relief from excessive

bail, and that this Court nmonitor state tort clains that she has filed in state
court. Because Patton raises the issue of excessive bail for the first time on
appeal, and fails to allege that the TDC) officials were even responsible for
setting bail, we decline to address that issue. See U.S. V. Garcia-Pillado, 898
F.2d 36, 39 (5th Gr. 1990) (" Issues raised for the first time on appeal are not
revi ewabl e by this court unless they involve purely | egal questions and failure
to consider them would result in manifest injustice.'" (quoting Self .
Bl ackburn, 751 F.2d 789, 793 (5th Gr. 1985))). As for Patton's latter request,
we do not to act as a supervisory body over state courts, and therefore will not
nonitor Patton's state tort clains.

2 Patton denies that she had suffered a drug overdose.
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sheriff's deputies placed Patton under arrest. The deputies took
her to a local hospital where vomting was induced, and then
transported Patton to the nearest nental hospital. The next
nmorni ng, Patton's nother and | awer had Patton rel eased fromthe
mental institution.

Subsequently, Patton decided to go to the Coffield Unit to
check on a sick friend. Wile she was en route to the prison, an
unidentified person called Warden Alford and told himthat Patton
was on her way to the prison with a car full of explosives.® Wen
Patton arrived at the prison gate, Warden Al ford and several other
officials renoved her fromthe car and handcuffed her. A deputy
fromthe sheriff's departnent arrived and arrested Patton. Bai
was set at $25,000. Patton's nother bailed her out several days
| ater. Patton received a final paycheck from the prison and a
notice which informed her that she had voluntarily resigned from
her job by not returning to work.

Patton filed suit in district court against Warden Jinmmy
Al ford, Warden Jack Garner, Assistant Warden Dal e Caskey, Captain
Harl an Sunmers, and Captain Bernie Bush. Patton clained that she
had been (a) discrimnated against on the basis of sex, in
violation of Title VII of the Cvil R ghts Act of 1964, as anended,
42 U.S.C. 8 2000e et seq.; (b) deprived of her property interest in

enpl oynent with TDCJ w thout due process; (c) falsely arrested

3 Patton objected to this characterization in her
objections to the magistrate's report. According to Patton, the
unidentified caller infornmed Warden Al ford that Patton said she was
"putting on conmando gear and proceeding to harm or even Kkil
Al ford and several other officials.”
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under 42 U.S.C. 8§ 1983; and (d) falsely arrested and naliciously
prosecuted under state |aw

The district court referred the action to the United States
magi strate for pretrial matters pursuant to 28 US C 8§
636(b) (1) (A). The defendants filed a notion to dism ss, under Fed.
R P. 12(b)(6). The nagistrate held a hearing on the defendants
nmotion and subsequently issued a report recomending that the
district court dismss all of Patton's clains. The district court
conducted a de novo review of the record and dism ssed Patton's
conplaint for failure to state a clai mupon which relief could be
gr ant ed.

I
Patt on appeals alleging that:

(a) the district court erred in dismssing her
claimunder Title VII;

(b) the district court erred in dismssing her 42
U S C 8 1983 claimof denial of due process;

he district court erred in dismssing her 42

(c) the
US C § 1983 claimof false arrest;

(d) it was inproper for Assistant Attorney General
Joe Bridges to appear for the defendants when
he had not been admtted to practice before
the United States District Court for the
Eastern District of Texas; and

111
The district court may dismss a claimunder Fed. R Cv. P

12(b)(6) ""only if it appears that no relief could be granted under
any set of facts that could be proven with the allegations.""
Barrientos v. Reliance Standard Life Ins. Co., 911 F.2d 1115, 1116
(5th CGr. 1990) (quoting Baton Rouge Bl dg. & Const. Trades Counci
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v. Jacobs Constructors, Inc., 804 F.2d 879, 881 (5th Cr. 1986)),

cert. denied, ___ US __, 111 S C. 795, 112 L. Ed. 2d 857
(1991). The sane rule applies when immunity is pleaded as a
defense by a notion to dismss. Chrissy F. By Mecley wv.

M ssi ssippi DPW 925 F.2d 844, 846 (5th Cr. 1991); Holloway V.
Wl ker, 765 F.2d 517, 519 (5th Gr. 1985), cert. denied, 474 U S
1037, 106 S. C. 605, 88 L. Ed. 2d 583 (1985). W review de novo
the district court's dismssal under rule 12(b)(6). Id.
A
Patton alleges that the district court erred in dismssing
her claim under Title WVII for failing to conply wth the
admnistrative requirenents of 42 U S C. 8§ 2000e-5(f)(1) (1988).
Under section 2000e-5(f)(1), a conplainant nust file a claimwth
t he Equal Enpl oynent Opportunity Conm ssion ("EEOCC') and obtain a
right-to-sue letter before the conplainant can file suit in
district court. Patterson v. MlLean Credit Union, 491 U S 164,
180, 109 S. C. 2363, 2374, 105 L. Ed. 2d 132 (1988). Because
Patton did not receive aright-to-sue letter fromthe EEOCC prior to
filing her conplaint in district court, the district court did not
err in dismssing Patton's Title VII claim
B
Patton next alleges that the district court erred in
di sm ssing her section 1983 due process claim Patton clains that

she did not voluntarily resign, but that the TDCJ officials fired



her without due process.* The district court disnissed Patton's
action on the basis that Patton did not have a clearly established
property interest in her job, and the TDCJ officials were therefore
protected by qualified immunity fromliability.

To prevail on a section 1983 claim Patton nmust show t hat she
had a protected property interest in her enploynent under Texas
law, and that that interest was violated w thout due process of
| aw. See Menphis Light, Gas & Water Division v. Craft, 436 U.S. 1
9, 98 S. Ct. 1554, 1560, 56 L. Ed. 2d 30 (1978) (In deternining
whet her a person has a protected interest under the due process
clause, the "underlying substantive interest is created by an

“independent source such as state |aw. (citations omtted));
Shawgo v. Spradlin, 701 F.2d 470, 475 (5th Cr.) ("Wether a
property interest in enploynent has been created by an enactnent or
an inplied contract nust be decided at least initially by a

reference to state |aw, al though federal <constitutional |aw
determ nes whether that interest is protected by the due process
clause), cert. denied, 464 U S. 965, 104 S. C. 404, 78 L. Ed. 2d
345 (1983); see also Hopkins v. Stice, 916 F.2d 1029, 1030-31 (5th
Cir. 1990).

To recover noney danages against public officials in their

i ndi vidual capacity, a plaintiff nmust show that the public

4 Patton cl ai ms t hat because (1) Warden Al ford assigned Patton to work

under the supervision of a person agai nst whomshe had a pending | awsui t; and (2)
everyone, including Warden Al ford, knew that Patton could not work under the
supervi sion of that person, Warden Al ford was responsi ble for her not returning
to work. Furthernore, Patton clains that TDCJ officials committed various
acts))e.g. placing her in a nental institution and having her falsely
arrested))to prevent Patton fromfiling a grievance concerning Warden Al ford's
deci si on.
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officials violated a "clearly established constitutional right of
whi ch a reasonabl e person would have been aware." Hopkins, 916
F.2d at 1029 (enphasis added); see also Harlow v. Fitzgerald, 457
U S 800, 818, 102 S. C. 2727, 2738, 73 L. Ed. 2d 396 (1982) (In
order to recover from a public official for violating a
constitutional right, plaintiff must show that def endant
"violate[d] clearly established . . . constitutional rights of
whi ch a reasonabl e person woul d have known.").

Simlarly, in Hopkins, a TDC (Texas Departnent of Corrections,
now TDC) enpl oyee was suspended, denoted, and put on probation.
|d. at 1030. Hopkins filed a grievance, which was denied w thout
a hearing. 1d. As aresult, Hopkins filed a | awsuit agai nst a TDC
official, claimng that the official had deprived him of his
property interest in his position at TDC, in violation of his due
process rights. 1d. W found that Tex. Rev. Cv. Stat. Ann. Art.
6166] (Vernon 1970) was the relevant statute, for determning
whet her the TDC enpl oyee had a protected property interest. See
Hopkins, 916 F.2d at 1031. Article 6166] provides: "The duty of
[the director of TDC] shall extend to the enpl oynent and di schar ge,
with the approval of the Board, of such persons as may be necessary
for the efficient conduct of the prison system" After exam ning
the | anguage of the statute, we stated that the statute arguably
established an at-will enpl oynent rel ationshi p between the TDC and

its enployees.?® See id. We concluded, therefore, that the

5 In arriving at its conclusion, this Court stated: "Although Art.

6166] does not expressly create an at-will enploynment relationship, Texas
precedents suggest that it should be interpreted in favor of the state. In
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Hopkin's "claimed property interest under state |law rested on
uncertain law, at best." I1d. Because Hopkins did not allege facts
denonstrating that he had a clearly established property interest
in his enployment at TDC,® we held that the TDC official was
protected by qualified imunity. [d.

Under the hol ding of Hopkins, Patton did not have a property
interest in her enploynent at TDCJ. Furthernore, Patton has not
all eged facts showi ng that she and TDCJ) had agreed that she could
be term nated for cause only. Because Patton did not allege facts
showi ng that she had a clearly established property interest in her
job, the TDCJ officials were protected by qualified i munity, and
we hold that the district court did not err in dismssing Patton's
section 1983 claim

C

Patton further clains that the district court erred in
di sm ssing her false arrest claimagainst the TDCJ officials. The
district court dismssed Patton's claim on the grounds that the
TDCJ officials had not acted under color of state |aw.

To establish a cause of action under 42 U S.C § 1983 for
false arrest, a plaintiff nust show deprivation of a clearly

established statutory or constitutional right by a state actor,

addition, the Texas legislature enacted Article 6166] at a tine when at-wll
enpl oynent was already firmy established in Texas." Hopkins, 916 F.2d at 1031
(citations onitted).

6 Hopki ns had al so of fered oral statenments and an enpl oyee nmanual into
evidence to show that his enploynment could only be ternminated for cause and
therefore, he had a property interest in his enploynment. Hopkins, 916 F.2d at
1031. This Court held that the oral statements did not clearly rise to the |evel
of an oral contract, and that the enpl oyee manual was anbi guous. See id.
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acting under color of state law. See Daniel v. Ferguson, 839 F.2d
1124, 1128-31 (5th Cr. 1988). A personis a state actor where the
person is a state official, has acted in concert with or has
obtained significant aid from state officials, or has engaged in
conduct that is otherwi se attributable to the state. 1d. at 1130
(quoting Lugar v. Ednmonson G| Co., 457 U S 922, 937, 102 S. C
2744, 2753-54, 73 L. Ed. 2d 482 (1982)). "[Misuse of power,
possessed by virtue of state | aw and nade possi bl e only because the
wrongdoer is clothed with the authority of state law, is action
taken “under color' of state law." United States v. Cassic, 313
US 299, 326, 61 S. . 1031, 1043, 85 L. Ed. 1368 (1941) (hol ding
t hat peopl e pursuing private ainms and not acting pursuant to state
authority are not acting under color of |aw, even though they are
state officials); see al so Monroe v. Pape, 365 U S. 167, 184, 81 S.
Ct. 473, 482, 5 L. Ed. 2d 492 (1961); United States v. Tapley, 945
F.2d 806, 809 (5th Gir. 1991), cert. denied, ___ US. __ , 112 S
Ct. 1960, 118 L. Ed. 2d 562 (1992).

Patton clainmed that she was falsely arrested on two separate
occasi ons. Patton alleged that Warden Alford caused her first
arrest by calling the sheriff's departnent and inform ng them of
her alleged drug overdose. Patton stated that Warden Alford al so
sat across the street from her house in a state vehicle during
busi ness hours while the sheriff's deputy entered her house and
t ook her into custody. Patton also alleged that the TDCJ officials
caused her second arrest by renoving her from her car and

handcuffing her until a sheriff's deputy cane to arrest her.
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We agree with the district court that the TDC) officials did
not act under color of state |aw because (1) deputies from the
sheriff's departnent, and not the TDCJ officials, arrested Patton;
and (2) Patton did not allege nor did she present evidence that the
TDCJ officials had the power or authority to have her arrested by
the sheriff's deputies. See Classic, 313 U.S. at 326, 61 S. C. at
1043. Therefore, the district court did not err by dismssing
Patton's fal se arrest claim

D

Patton urges that we reverse the district court's order of
di sm ssal on the grounds that the appearance of Assistant Attorney
Ceneral Joe Bridges ("Bridges") for the defendants at the QOctober
hearing was i nproper. Patton states that Bridges was not the
attorney of record and had not been admtted to practice in the
Eastern District of Texas.’ Furthernore, Patton clains that the
def endants received a nore favorable outcome in the case.?
Al t hough Patton nmade this argunent in her objection to the

magi strate's report, the district court did not address it.

! Local Rule 2(d) for the Eastern District of Texas provides that an

attorney who is not adnmitted to practice in the district nmust be granted
perm ssion to appear by the court before naking an appearance. Def endant s
concede that Bridges had not been admitted to practice in the Eastern District
of Texas.

8 Both the defendants' notion to dismss and Patton's notion for
appoi nt nent of counsel were argued before the nagi strate at the COctober heari ng.
Patton clai ms that t he def endants recei ved a nore favorabl e out cone because their
notion to dism ss was deci ded before her notion for appoi nt ment of counsel. The
def endants' notion to di snm ss was deci ded on June 4, 1991 and Patton's notion for
appoi nt nent of counsel was deci ded on August 14, 1991
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Under 28 U S.C. & 2111 (1988),° a judgment wll not be
reversed if the error was harnl ess. We find that the district
court's failure to address Patton's objection was harml ess error
because Patton was not harnmed by Bri dges' appearance at the Cctober
hearing. Bridges' role at the hearing was to argue in favor of the
def endants' notion to dism ss, and his argunent was confined to the
points and authorities contained in the defendants' notion, which
had been prepared by the attorney of record. Wil e the defendants
nmotion to dismss was decided sooner than Patton's notion for
appoi nt mrent of counsel, ! Patton has failed to all ege facts show ng
that Bridges' appearance caused the defendants to receive a nore
favorabl e out cone.

Al t hough the district court erred in not addressing Patton's
objection, we find the error harn ess.

|V

For the foregoing reasons, we AFFIRM

9 Section 2111 provides: "On the hearing of any appeal or wit of
certiorari in any case, the court shall give judgment after an exam nation of the
record without regard to errors or defects that do not affect the substanti al
rights of the parties."

10 See supra note 7.
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